

# SUBMISSION TO THE INQUIRY INTO SOUTH AUSTRALIAN HOUSING AVAILABILITY

**ADELAIDE OFFICE** 

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.



RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### **SOUTH EAST**

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

Disability Rights Advocacy Service (DRAS) is part of the Australian Network of Disability Services funded by the Australian Government

www.dras.com.au



# Contents

Acknowledgement of Country	
Background	
Submission to the Inquiry into South Australian Housing Availability	
Affordability and access to housing for people with disability leading to risk of homeless	
	6
Supported Independent Living (SIL) or Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) - a li	nited
option	
Inaccessible crisis accommodation and a complex system of accessing homelessness	
support	12
Accessibility and Minimum Housing Standards	13
Training and staff capability	16
DRAS Case Studies	
Recommendations	

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

f

## Like us on Facebook

# RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

# SOUTH EAST



# Acknowledgement of Country



The Disability Rights Advocacy Service Inc acknowledges that this submission was completed on Kaurna Land. We pay our respects to Elders past, present and emerging. We recognise the continuing relationship with the lands and seas and connection to culture.

Kaurna Miyurna yaitya yarta-mathanya Wama Tarntanyaku, parnaku yailtya, parnaku tapa puru purruna. Kaurna Miyurna ithu yailtya purruna, yarta kuma puru martinthi, puru warri-apinthi, puru tangka martulayinthi.

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### **SOUTH EAST**

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



# **Background**

Disability Rights Advocacy Service (DRAS) is a community organisation that is run by our members and our Board, which is made up of people with a disability. DRAS is part of a national network of disability advocacy organisations funded by the Australian Government Department of Social Services to provide individual advocacy, individual capacity-building and systemic advocacy for persons with disability.

## What we do

Our advocates listen to people with a disability and learn from them, so that we can work alongside them to promote and defend their human rights. It means helping people with disability to get a fair go. It means helping people with a disability to enjoy all the things they are entitled to – all the things a person who doesn't have a disability can access.

# Our locations

Disability Rights Advocacy Service has three office locations in South Australia:

- Our Brooklyn Park office represents people who reside within greater metropolitan Adelaide, Mount Barker, Adelaide Hills and Murray Bridge.
- Based in Mount Gambier, our South-East service assists people throughout the South-East and Coorong region.
- People living within the Riverland region can access our Riverland office, which is based in the township of Berri.

# **Our Mission**

Safeguarding and promoting the rights and interests of people with a disability, their families and carers. We do this through our four governing principles:

- 1. People with disabilities have the same rights as other members of the Australian community.
- 2. People with a disability should be able to maintain and develop their culture without prejudice or disadvantage and should be encouraged to understand and embrace other cultures.
- 3. People with a disability should be able to receive services necessary to enable them to achieve their maximum potential as members of the community.
- 4. People with a disability are entitled to participate in decisions that affect their lives and to receive services in a manner that results in the least restriction of their rights and opportunities.

#### ADELAIDE OFFICE

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au



2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



# Submission to the Inquiry into South Australian Housing Availability

As part of our work our advocates frequently liaise with clients who are homeless, facing homelessness, or trying to access housing. In putting together this submission we have reviewed key research and interviewed advocates, surveyed and interviewed persons with disability and their carers, reviewed our DEX data, spoken to housing organisations and government officials.

In the July to December 2022 period, we had <u>306 clients</u> who sought disability advocacy related to housing. The issues that our clients sought assistance with included:

- Access to secure housing because they were homeless, including sleeping rough and/or couch-surfing;
- Access to secure housing because they were facing homelessness after being served an eviction notice or due to a housing provider not renewing their lease for a public, community or private rental;
- Support at the South Australian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (SACAT) related to appealing an eviction notice or requesting an extension of time to find a new property;
- Liaising with or making complaints to the South Australian Housing Authority (SAHA), a Community Housing Provider or a private real estate agent relating to maintenance issues or disability modifications. These matters have included:
  - o Poor insulation or ventilation, black mould or asbestos in the property;
  - Pest infestations;
  - Disability or medical-related modifications (such as grabrails, handrails or adjustable showerheads);
  - Advocating for essential heating and cooling items to be provided in the property (such as airconditioners and heaters);
  - o Long delays with SAHA maintenance requests needing to be escalated to the DHS Minister.
- Support to lodge a housing transfer application, particularly with SAHA. Reasons for requesting a transfer have included:
  - The property is not accessible or suitable due to the client's disability;

RIVERLAND

- The client feels unsafe or is being harassed in their current residence due to neighbours exhibiting anti-social behaviours, such as substance abuse, theft, domestic violence, vandalism, assault or risk of violence;
- The property is not nearby support networks, including informal and/or professional supports.

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

**SOUTH EAST** 



# Affordability and access to housing for people with disability leading to risk of homelessness

- 1. From a housing and homelessness perspective, in the past 12 months we have been seeing an influx of people with disability accessing our services to get assistance due to them experiencing homelessness, facing eviction, or living in unsuitable housing. DRAS currently has 55 open individual advocacy cases related to housing/homelessness for our Adelaide, Berri and Mount Gambier offices.
- 2. We have seen a concerning rise of tenants being told that their lease will not be getting renewed through no fault of their own. For example, a private landlord selling their property, or a public housing tenant being told to move out to 'make way' for others. Tenants have also not had their leases renewed, or had their rent raised, after requesting maintenance in their property. Some are avoiding making maintenance requests or complaints due to fears of retaliatory evictions or rent increases.
- 3. We surveyed persons with disabilities about their experiences with accessing housing in South Australia. People told us that affordability of housing was a major concern for them:

"I feel like if I wanted to move I wouldn't be able to because there is so little private rental accommodation available – certainly for what I can afford to pay"

"There is a gap between homelessness services and public housing for people with disability. Homelessness services are not willing to accommodate autism access needs. NDIS won't fund to support me to find a safe housing and the public waiting lists are years. Private rental is too complicated to access and is unaffordable."

"There are no other options for me to move into affordable housing so I have been forced to stay where I am with an extra rent increase but now I can't afford to feed myself"

"Due to cost and availability in the rental market, it is very hard to relocate anywhere. Currently we are on a periodical lease and hope something else becomes available, but we have been looking for over 6 months now, pet policy for myself, and cost is not good. Options are seldom, and not overly affordable"

"Trying to obtain lower cost housing is unaffordable on benefits"

"I'm in a very vulnerable position my landlords are selling my house, I'm on JobSeeker and stand no chance of obtaining a suitable place to live"

#### ADELAIDE OFFICE

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### **SOUTH EAST**

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



*"It is expensive, and as usual a total rush to find a house before a lease is up, meaning little time to find something better and more affordable... which I guess is irrelevant because so little affordable housing exists!"* 

- 4. People with disability may have a greater exposure to risk factors associated with homelessness than the general population (Beer et al. 2012). Low income, lack of social support, limited engagement with the labour market, compounded by the need for specialised assistance and services, can leave some people with disability increasingly vulnerable to the risk of homelessness and the negative impact of homelessness.
- 5. Timely access to safe, suitable and long-term housing can be critical to the wellbeing of people with disability, providing independence and the ability to participate in social, economic, sporting and cultural life. Housing that meets accessibility requirements, is nearby to public transport, as well as quality and affordable support services is also vital for those with disability.
- 6. The Specialist Homelessness Services annual report from the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare addresses homelessness and disability from a national perspective, In the latest reporting period (2021–22), roughly 272,700 Specialist Homelessness Service ("SHS") clients received support from specialist homelessness services. **18,030 SHS clients were located in South Australia.**
- 7. Nationally, 31% (or 85,200) lived with mental illness, 4.9% (or 11,300) were NDIS participants, and 3% (or 7,300) were categorised as clients with disability.<sup>1</sup> The most common reasons for people with disability seeking assistance were due to the housing crisis (28%), family and domestic violence (18%) and inadequate/inappropriate dwelling conditions (14%).<sup>2</sup>
- 8. We are concerned that the rising cost of housing is pushing people with disability and those on fixed incomes into unsafe or unsuitable housing options, or into homelessness. For example, as of March 2023, median rent for houses in Adelaide is \$520 (a 4.2% increase on the previous quarter) and \$420 for units (a 5% increase).<sup>3</sup>
- 9. Regional areas are not much better, with rental prices ranging from \$300 to \$500 per week. Townships have seen sharp increases between March 2022-March 2023, such as 23.3% for the Barossa, 24.6% for Murray Bridge, 20% for Port Pirie, 10.7% for Berri Barmera and 10.3% for Mount Gambier.<sup>4</sup>

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Specialist homelessness services annual report 2021–22, Clients, services and outcomes - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> <u>Specialist homelessness services annual report 2021–22, Clients with disability - Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (aihw.gov.au)</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Domain Rental Report - March 2023 | Domain

Domain Rental Report - March 2023 | Domain
 ADELAIDE OFFICE
 RIVERLAND

<sup>411</sup> Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA

<sup>5032</sup> PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



- 10. Mean house prices for purchase in South Australia were \$644,300 according to the ABS as of December 2022.<sup>5</sup>
- 11. From our experience these prices are pushing many out of the private housing market, particularly persons with disabilities, people on income support, single parents, new migrants and refugees. We are seeing a lack of access particularly for people with 'hidden' disabilities, such as psychosocial, intellectual, sensory or behavioural disabilities or brain injuries.
- 12. At the same time as the cost of purchasing a house or renting privately has increased, wages and income support have not kept up. Anglicare found that of the 1,456 private rentals that were advertised on the weekend of Saturday 18 March 2023 in South Australia, for a single person over 21 on the Disability Support Pension, a single on JobSeeker Payment, or a single aged over 18 on Youth Allowance, 0% of properties were suitable without placing a person in housing stress. 256 of individual properties (or 18%) were suitable for at least one household type living on the minimum wage without placing them in housing stress. These results are found in the table below.<sup>6</sup>

#	Household Type	Payment Type	Number Affordable & Appropriate	Percentage Affordable & Appropriate
1	Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Jobseeker Payment (both adults)	2	0%
2	Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Parenting Payment Single	1	0%
3	Couple, no children	Age Pension	8	1%
4	Single, one child (aged less than 5)	Parenting Payment Single	0	0%
5	Single, one child (aged over 8)	Jobseeker Payment	0	0%
6	Single	Age Pension	6	0%
7	Single aged over 21	Disability Support Pension	0	0%
8	Single	Jobseeker Payment	0	0%
9	Single aged over 18	Youth Allowance	0	0%
10	Single in share house	Youth Allowance	0	0%
11	Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A (both adults)	252	17%
12	Single, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + FTB A & B	15	1%
13	Single	Minimum Wage	9	1%
14	Couple, two children (one aged less than 5, one aged less than 10)	Minimum Wage + Parenting payment (partnered) + FTB A & B	48	3%
	Total No of Properties	1456		

13. We are particularly concerned that the current rate of the Disability Support Pension (DSP) is not keeping up with the rising cost of private rentals.





- 14. Social housing is struggling to keep up with the demand of access requests. The South Australian Housing Authority (SAHA) confirmed in 2022 that there were up to 17,000 people on their waitlist with limited vacancies per year. People with disability are requesting advocacy support from our service due to waiting several months or years on Category 1 the highest priority to get into social housing.
- 15. The current public and community housing stock is therefore not meeting the housing demand and investment has declined over time. Across 2001-2020 the share of public housing in South Australia declined from 50,000 to 30,000 places.<sup>7</sup>
- 16. We have also heard concerns that affordable housing or social housing is concentrated into particular areas. This means that if persons with disability are facing homelessness, they may also have the added barrier of either having to move away from support services, networks, schools or NDIS funded treating teams, or rejecting a housing offer.
- 17. Persons with disability told us that access to available and accessible housing in a safe area is an urgent priority that is not being afforded to them overall. We heard a common theme that persons with disability want the State Government to increase access to public housing because it is more affordable.
- 18. Persons with disability have told us the affordability and availability of housing could be improved in the following ways:

"Bans on rental increases, massive social housing developments, more training to Housing SA staff on how they deal with people, more disability housing access to housing for carers, fixing up of older housing/community houses, increases to payments for rent, options for lower incomes to "purchase" property instead of being stuck on the cycle of renting. More help from services to access property before becoming homeless and being moved into emergency accommodation"

"More social housing with capped rental costs, Social housing that is available to low-income earners and not just people on Centrelink payments"

> "Having more access to public housing would help alleviate so much stress for those on waiting lists. Big corporations need to pay their fair share of tax so as the rest of society can have some semblance of a stable life"

<sup>7</sup> South Australian Council of Social Services, Submission to the Select Committee Inquiry into Privatisation of Public Services in South Australia, 2021 p 2, accessed: <u>SACOSS Supplementary Submission - Housing.pdf</u>
 <u>ADELAIDE OFFICE</u>
 <u>RIVERLAND</u>
 <u>SOUTH EAST</u>

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



"A massive increase in public housing [is needed] ... The price of renting needs regulation and more housing made available"

"More affordable housing for poor people. Availability in a safe area"

"More availability of housing. Stop people hoarding housing for profit. Drastically increase public housing stock"

"More public housing, caps on rental prices, increased rent assistance for people with disability to access safe appropriate private rental"

property areas affordable housing available access social housing people us rental rent housing lower incomes increase people disability public housing support Availability community made

[Word cloud of responses to the DRAS survey question 'What changes would you like to see to improve the housing sector in South Australia?]

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### Like us on Facebook

## RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

## SOUTH EAST



# Supported Independent Living (SIL) or Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) – a limited option

- 19. Some people with disability may be able to get access to Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) or Supported Independent Living (SIL) if this is included in their NDIS Plan. However, many people with disability do not have access to the NDIS. For example, there is an estimated four million people living with disability in Australia and only 500,000 people on the NDIS. As of 30 June 2020, there were only 6% of NDIS participants living in SIL accommodation according to the NDIA.<sup>8</sup>
- 20. There is also only a limited number of NDIS participants that have been approved to have SDA or SIL included in their NDIS Plan. The cost of SDA or SIL is out of reach for persons with disability unless they can get the cost covered in some other way. This means that many persons with disabilities who may benefit from SIL or SDA do not have access to this type of accommodation due to financial and administrative barriers. Many SIL or SDA providers will not accept residents at all unless they have funding approved under their NDIS Plan.
- 21. From our experience it is difficult to get SDA or SIL approved in an NDIS Plan because of the requirements for a person with disability, in that they need to have a substantially reduced functional capacity and require 24/7 supports.
- 22. SIL is funded individually under the NDIS to each person according to their needs. It is a shared living arrangement of 2-7 NDIS participants. Participants get assistance with daily life tasks and have access to 24/7 care. There are three levels of support that can be accessed. However, the cost of funding from the NDIS often does not include rent, board or lodging, day to day living expenses such as food (unless explicitly agreed upon), activities, personal care supports if the person if hospitalised, vehicle costs, household budgeting or bill paying activities, or expenses relating to holidays, including travel costs.<sup>9</sup> Our clients have told us that SIL has financial and administrative barriers, such as the amounts charged to their NDIS Plans, and an onerous process in seeking suitable supports, making complaints, or changing providers.
- 23. Another housing alternative that has been used, particularly for children or teenagers, is to house persons with disability in Aged Care facilities. This has not been an ideal situation, particularly for younger people who are not able to develop social networks with their peers. This has often led to social isolation of young people with disability.
- 24. SDA is offered for persons with disability on the NDIS with extreme functional impairment or high needs that require person-to-person support. Homes are specially designed to be more accessible based on disability related support needs. The cost of accommodation itself is funded separately to personal care supports, supported independent living, individualised living options and some assistive technology

ADELAIDE OFFICERIVERLAND411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA<br/>50322a Ahern Stre<br/>PO Box 868 E

5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Improving outcomes for participants who require Supported Independent Living (SIL): Supported Independent Living (SIL) – Provider and Sector consultation, NDIS, September 2020, p 3
 <sup>9</sup> Supported Independent Living for participants | NDIS



options. SDA may also involve a shared home with a small number of other people, wherein the NDIS participant has a private bedroom. In some cases, participants may be able to live in SDA by themselves if that meets their support needs and circumstances. Participants pay for rent, bills and other day-to-day expenses.<sup>10</sup>

25. As a result of the limited NDIS Plans including SDA or SIL, or a lack of access to the NDIS, many persons with disability are instead turning to private accommodation or social housing. However, as discussed, these options are often not accessible or affordable.

# Inaccessible crisis accommodation and a complex system of accessing homelessness support

- 26. We note with concern that crisis accommodation is often inaccessible for persons with disabilities. For example, we have had clients who are deemed *ineligible* for crisis accommodation because their greater care needs mean that they need 1:1 support and therefore placing them in crisis accommodation would put the client at risk. In this case the crisis accommodation provider does not have access to the necessary staff to provide support a person with disability.
- 27. In other cases, clients have also not been able to be housed in crisis accommodation because the physical inaccessibility of the accommodation would put them at risk due to their disability. For example, a person with vision impairment was rejected from a crisis accommodation provider because the complex had stairs and this presented a falls risk.
- 28. In some cases clients have been turned away from accessing short-stay accommodation providers due to long waitlists.
- 29. Clients have raised with us that they do not feel safe accessing crisis accommodation, such as women's shelters or men's sheds, because of behaviours of concern from other people, or due to their disability-related needs.
- 30. Clients have also faced barriers in having to get a referral to a homelessness support service, such as through Homeless Connect (former homelessness gateway), rather than being able to directly access a service.
- 31. Homelessness support services can only be accessed when a person is physically homeless i.e. sleeping rough or couch-surfing. There are no homelessness support services available to help people when they are facing homelessness, such as when their private rental has decided to not renew their lease, they have no legal rights to appeal this, and they have nowhere else to go, for example. There are no support services specifically designed to assist people who are at risk of homelessness, to prevent them becoming homeless.

 <sup>10</sup> Specialist disability accommodation | NDIS

 ADELAIDE OFFICE
 RIVERLAND

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



32. The only options available to a person or a family who are *about to* become homeless are:

- a. To seek an extension of time via SACAT to find another place (which can include a fee unless they can prove financial hardship, which can be an onerous process); or
- b. Submit further support letters to public or community housing to escalate a Category 1 application; or
- c. Seek out a potentially inaccessible boarding house.
- 33. Only once a person is physically homeless (sleeping rough or couch-surfing) can they call Homeless Connect and get a referral to a homelessness support provider. This situation is putting vulnerable people at risk.

# Accessibility and Minimum Housing Standards

- 34. As an advocacy service we have had clients come to us for help in obtaining housing that is physically and sensory-accessible. Housing often does not meet the needs of persons with disabilities and it can be difficult to get approval for disability housing modifications.
- 35. SAHA has developed their *Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2020-2024*, as part of their obligations under the *Disability Inclusion Act 2018* (SA) (*DIA*). We are towards the end of the delivery of this plan in mid-2023. The Plan is also part of the broader 10-year strategy of the South Australian Government, *Our Housing Future 2020-2030*.
- 36. According to the Plan, in 2020 people with disability made up 39% of public and Aboriginal housing tenants (12,324), 37% of social housing registrations (6,390) and 25% of the private rental assistance program (13,933). Mental health, physical disabilities and intellectual disabilities were the primary disabilities.<sup>11</sup> Persons with disability residing in public and Aboriginal housing properties can request housing modifications if it does not meet their needs. Only SAHA offers disability housing modifications officially, and they must often be supported by comprehensive diagnostic and functional assessment reports that can be difficult or expensive to obtain.<sup>12</sup>
- 37. SAHA has also developed internal Sustainable Housing Principles which include detailed requirements about accessibility around and inside a house, as well as housing modifications.<sup>13</sup> However, SAHA has only committed to 'silver' access, which is the minimum requirement for accessibility as opposed to 'gold' or 'platinum' access.<sup>14</sup>

<sup>13</sup> Sustainable Housing Principles 2.3 SAHT Universal Housing Design Criteria

<sup>14</sup> SA Housing Authority, Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2020-2024, 2020, Government of South Australia, p 21 ADELAIDE OFFICE RIVERLAND SOUTH EAST

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> SA Housing Authority, Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2020-2024, 2020, Government of South Australia, p 5
 <sup>12</sup> Housing modifications for people with a disability policy | SA Housing Authority



- 38. Furthermore, the Standards only relate to new builds. Our clients have told us that older SAHA properties are inaccessible, particularly the high-density walk-up flat-style accommodation, or semidetached accommodation. Reasons why our clients have noted that the properties are not accessible have been due to:
  - a. Physical inaccessibility i.e. stairs, entry/exit steps, uneven ground, small doorways, narrow hallways;
  - b. Individuals with sensory disabilities or impairments not being able to live in close proximity with neighbours. For example, due to noise from other apartment units that impact on their auditory-processing and cause distress, or due to sharing entrances/exits on an apartment level.
- 39. Moreover, the *DIA* only applies to government agencies and their partner organisations (for example, SAHA partnering with community housing providers). People with disability living in private rentals do not have the benefit of knowing that their landlord or real estate agent is accountable to a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan. This is despite many people with disability renting privately, particularly due to the reduction in numbers of public and community housing places available, and the lack of affordable houses available to purchase.
- 40. Persons with disability may also struggle to access housing that meets their needs in the private rental market. The *Residential Tenancies Act 1995* (SA) is the core legislation that governs private rental accommodation, including the rights of tenants and obligations of landlords or real estate agents. There are no obligations put on private landlords or real estate agents to allow for housing modifications, except that they cannot refuse installation of the internet or a digital television under s 70 of the Act and s 12 of the *Residential Tenancies Regulations 2010* (SA). This means there are no obligations on private agencies to allow for housing modifications. Many rental advertisements also state that they do not accept tenants with pets, which can be a significant barrier for persons with disabilities who rely on support companions.
- 41. The *Disability Discrimination Act 1992* (Cth) and the *Equal Opportunity Act 1984* (SA) may provide a legal avenue for persons with disability to make complaints about private landlords or real estate agents if they do not provide a housing modification when requested. However, the legal test for discrimination can be a high bar to meet, and it can be difficult to prove that someone is being discriminated against *because of* their disability.

#### ADELAIDE OFFICE

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

Like us on Facebook

## RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST



42. Persons with disability have told us that the availability of accessible housing is of concern:

"I have been under pressure to be relocated by the agency that manages my property. The State Manager when told why I wanted particular colours for the painting of the interior of my house (to help positively affect my moods), instead of what I call Institutional Beige and 50 Shades of Depressing Grey, said a majority of their tenants had mental health issues and didn't ask for specific colours. Very dismissive of how people come to acquire mental health challenges and how individuals develop coping mechanisms"

"I am frustrated by how little chance I have to change things in my rental, that I have inspections every 2.5 months requiring a high level of cleanliness and that repairs sometimes take a long time"

"Special assistance disability housing service should be case-managed. Inclusive of physical, intellectual and mental health. More public housing and caps on private rental prices. Increased rent assistance for people with disability to access safe and appropriate private rental"

*"Huge increase to access, commit to accessibility standards. Make affordable housing"* 

"I would like to see rental inspections reduced from as often as a month to twice a year at most. I would like more insulation for rental properties, the ability to have pets, more affordable housing, less discrimination against families and people with children, more ability to make changes to a rental property"

> "I wish there was more affordable housing for lower income, and that we were not discriminated against if we have pets, most of us have animals, as they are for support"

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



"Bring back more affordable homes through HAS, bring back community buses in back streets, don't put people with disabilities in hilly areas, far from shops and transport. Don't mix us with homeowners that treat us poorly, stigmatising and discriminating us causing more stress and anxiety to the point of being too scared to even go outside. More community support from experienced people... NDIS is useless"

"[We need] more availability of purpose-built accommodation suitable for disabled people"

"Houses should be designed not to be as narrow and sardine-can-like as possible. Most public houses should be accessible for everyone. And public transport in metropolitan areas should have to be much closer to these houses"

# Training and staff capability

- 43. Training for staff in the housing industry should be reviewed and updated to ensure that organisations are accessible for persons with disabilities.
- 44. SAHA has disability awareness training which could be updated to include mental health first aid training and autism-awareness training.
- 45. It is unclear whether community housing providers deliver disability awareness or mental health first aid training across the board.
- 46. Private real estate agents or property managers are not required to have disability awareness or mental health first aid training. In South Australia they are required to follow a professional code of conduct. However, professional development such as ethics or disability awareness is not mandated as part of maintaining their practice licence.
- 47. Due to COVID-19 there is also currently a shortage of builders and construction workers that is impacting the capability of South Australia's workforce. Some workers have also moved interstate to take up the opportunities in Victoria and Western Australia who are making big investments into social housing.

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



# Case Study #1:

The client is an NDIS participant. They are not eligible for SDA/SIL. They had to leave a SAHA property due to domestic violence and stayed temporarily with family, however, this was not a long-term option. They found a private rental through a roommate app and are on a sub-lease, which was the only affordable place they could find while on JobSeeker. They attempted to apply for the Disability Support Pension but were rejected. The property they are now living in is old and the landlord is refusing to do any renovations. There is mould in the property, part of the ceiling has collapsed, the drain piping has shattered, the toilet is not flushing, and there is raw sewage going into the backyard. DRAS attended a meeting with the client and SAHA who advised that the property may be sub-standard. The client is concerned about asking for a property assessment with the landlord as they may deem that the home is unliveable and then the client will face homelessness. They have been deemed to only be Category 2 for public and community housing because they are technically housed and not physically homeless right now. However, this raises a broader issue about people with disabilities living in inappropriate accommodation because they have no other option.

# Case Study #2:

The client is living in their car with their dog. They have been in Category 1 with SAHA for a few months now. They have been told that they will need to wait for up to 5 years for a house. They describe their body as broken physically – with a smashed leg and a broken hand that has not mended. They forced themselves to work through the pain and it got worse. The client has a degenerative spine disease that was gained as child due to a hit-and-run. They have chronic depression and anxiety. They said that they cannot get the DSP because they cannot afford a spinal surgeon or a psychiatrist.

<sup>15</sup> More case studies can be made available on request if needed. ADELAIDE OFFICE RIVERLAND

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST

PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au



## Case Study #3:

A client who lives in a SAHA property requested advocacy support regarding maintenance. They had an assessment by a roofing plumber who told them that there was black mould in the ceiling insulation and one of the beams was rotten, because of a leak due to structural issues with the silicone in the roof. The roofing plumber raised that this issue had been present for several years. The leak also caused flooding in the kitchen. The leak was fixed, however, the issue with the black mould was not resolved. The ceiling paint in the kitchen is peeling, and the client had raised a maintenance request three years ago, which was never actioned. The kitchen tiles fell off. Currently there is a water-damaged backdoor. The client sought assistance from DRAS and we have raised these concerns with SAHA. There has been some movement with maintenance visiting the property, and the kitchen tiles have been fixed. However, the water-damaged backdoor has not been fixed, and neither has the black mould in the ceiling insulation. The client is impacted by the black mould which affects their asthma and causes headaches, itchy eyes and sinus problems. The client notices a change in their health when they are not staying in the house, such as when they are visiting family. The client had previously had an assessment by an Occupational Therapist who recommended that the kitchen be renovated to make it more accessible, however, this has not been actioned after several years. The client has also made a complaint to the State Ombudsman. The client is on the Disability Support Pension and is getting help from DRAS to appeal the decision to reject their NDIS Access claim.

#### ADELAIDE OFFICE

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au

#### Like us on Facebook

# RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au

#### SOUTH EAST



# **Recommendations**

- 1. Increase public and community housing stock to a level that meets community demand. For example, investing in an additional 20,000 social housing places.
- 2. Increase renter's rights and amend the RTA to include the following:
  - a. A right of housing modifications for persons with disabilities;
  - b. A right to bring pets into residential properties;
  - c. A ban on no-cause evictions;
  - d. Limiting periodic tenancies.
- 3. SAHA, community housing providers and private rental investors make a commitment to 100% 'platinum' access for all new housing builds as per *Livable Housing Australia* guidelines.<sup>16</sup>
- 4. The *DIA* State Disability Inclusion Plan to include an action point as to how State Government will work with private housing organisations and associations to make housing more affordable, available and accessible for persons with disability.
- 5. More collaboration between SAHA, community housing providers, the NDIA and homelessness support services when persons with disability are facing eviction, non-renewal of lease or homelessness and attempting to obtain secure housing.
- 6. Ensuring that persons on the Disability Support Pension can be placed on at least Category 2 for SAHA in both the registration *and* transfer process.
- 7. Review the accessibility and safety of crisis accommodation, short-stay accommodation and boarding/rooming houses.
- 8. Extend funding to homelessness support organisations so individuals can get assistance to avoid homelessness. Shift the focus to preventing homelessness rather than waiting until people are sleeping rough or couch-surfing.
- The State Government should work with the Federal Government to review the level of accessibility and affordability for Specialist Disability Accommodation (SDA) and Supported Independent Living (SIL).

<sup>16</sup> LHA Platinum (livablehousingaustralia.org.au) ADELAIDE OFFICE RIVERLAND

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au 2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au SOUTH EAST



- 10. The State Government should collect data on the number of young people with disability in Aged Care facilities in South Australia and monitor their experiences. More secure and stable housing options should be created so young people with disability can have sustainable social networks with peers.
- 11. The State Government should advocate to the Federal Government for amendments to the *Disability Discrimination Act 1992* (Cth) to make it clearer that refusing a housing modification is discrimination against persons with disability. The State Government should amend the *Equal Opportunity Act 1984* (SA) to the same effect.
- 12. DRAS welcomes the Federal Government's recent increase to Commonwealth Rent Assistance and Income Support Payments for those relying on Centrelink. However, we share the same concerns from the Australian Council of Social Services (ACOSS) that it is only a modest increase that will not lift people out of poverty.
- 13. Review government Home-Buyer schemes to investigate the impact on inflation and house prices, with a view to ensuring they do not inadvertently cause house prices to rise.
- 14. Mandate training for SAHA and community housing frontline staff for disability awareness, mental health first aid training, cultural awareness and trauma-informed practice. This should also include training for responding to disclosures of domestic or sexual violence.
- 15. Update the requirements that real estate agents and property managers need to maintain their practice licence, by mandating disability awareness, mental health first aid training, cultural awareness and trauma-informed practice.

#### **ADELAIDE OFFICE**

411 Henley Beach Rd Brooklyn Park SA 5032 PO Box 411 Brooklyn Park SA 5032 **Phone:** 08 8351 9500 **Email:** administration@dras.com.au



## RIVERLAND

2a Ahern Street Berri SA 5343 PO Box 868 Berri SA 5343 Phone: 08 8351 9500 Email: administration@dras.com.au PO Box 1210 Mount Gambier SA 5290 Phone: 08 8351 9500

Email: administration@dras.com.au

SOUTH EAST

Disability Rights Advocacy Service (DRAS) is part of the Australian Network of Disability Services funded by the Australian Government